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Short Answer Question  
(worth 5 points) 
 
On March 25, Polly sent a purchase order for100 chairs to Easy Manufacturing 
Company.  The purchase order contained the following language:  BUYER OBJECTS IN 
ADVANCE TO ANY TERMS PROPOSED BY SELLER THAT DIFFER FROM 
THESE.  Easy Manufacturing received the order and on March 29, sent back an 
acknowledgment disclaiming all warranties and stating:  THIS IS NOT AN 
ACCEPTANCE UNLESS BUYER ASSENTS TO ALL OUR TERMS. 
Is there a contract?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Put Answer on Multiple Choice Answer Sheet 
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CONRACTS – PROFESSOR SULLIVAN 
FINAL EXAMINATION 
ESSAY PORTION 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
1. Brown-Mx is a Massachusetts limited partnership with Gary Sullivan its sole 
general partner.  Sullivan formed the partnership to purchase and renovate an office 
building in Boston.  In May, 2009, Brown-Mx obtained a loan commitment for 
permanent financing of the building from State Savings Bank of MA (hereinafter 
“Bank”) Brown-Mx paid the bank $25,000 for the commitment, which was to expire May 
1, 2010.  Later Brown-Mx paid the bank $12,500.00 to extend the commitment to 
November 1, 2010. 
 
Under the commitment the bank agreed to lend Brown-Mx 1.1 million provided 
satisfactory documentation of renovations, signed leases providing for at least $714,447 
annual rentals, and a satisfactory appraisal that the building was worth at least $2.4 
million.  The commitment provided in the alternative for a “floor loan” of $750,000 if the 
major requirements for the ceiling loan were not met.  The provisions for the alternative 
loans, floor or ceiling, are at the heart of the dispute.  The bank agreed to lend 1.1 million 
secured by a permanent mortgage on the ***[building]. 
 
2. Loan to close the following being satisfactorily complied with: 
 
 a. Exhibition of all required government certificates, permits, licenses, etc. 
 b. [details of renovation to be done “in a workmanlike manner satisfactory to 
   bank.”] 

c. Exhibition of signed leases for a term of not less than one year covering not 
more than 140,449 net rentable square feet at a rental for not less than 
$714,447 per annum, and the space rented is rented on a basis so that if the 
building were 100% rented, the annual rent roll would be at least $840,500. 
Said rentals to be on an unfurnished basis without any concession offsets 
thereto. Leases to be approved by the bank and assigned to the bank. 

 
It is also understood and agreed that in the event that condition #2.a is met, but conditions 
2.b, and 2.c are not, the loan shall be in the amount of $750,000. 

  
The loan, whether ceiling or floor amount, was to be secured by a first mortgage on the 
building. 
 
On the strength of this commitment Brown-Mx obtained from two Massachusetts banks 
$1.1 million interim financing to purchase and renovate the building, to be repaid from 



the proceeds of the permanent loan from State Savings Bank of MA.  Brown-Mx bought 
the building, renovated it, and proceeded to lease space in it. 
 
State Savings Bank of MA refused to lend the money on the ceiling amount, maintaining 
among other things that Brown-Mx had failed to satisfy the minimum rental requirements 
of the commitment.1 
 
Brown-Mx sued the bank alleging breach of contract.   
What result?  Discuss all issues presented. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 30 points) 
 
Since 1976, Marine Corp. (“Marine”)  has been engaged in the business of performing 
various specialized types of marine repair work, principally in the greater Boston area but 
as far away as Newport, R.I., and Portland, Maine (each of which is approximately 100 
miles of Boston).  Marine is one of a very few companies in the greater Boston area 
which engages primarily in such specialized repair work, although there are shipyards 
which compete for such work.  Marine conducts its business by retaining only two or 
three permanent supervisors and by hiring crews of part-time workers as necessary for 
particular jobs.  It relies on the ability of its supervisors to assemble workers with the 
particular skills which are needed for each job. 
 
In 1988, Marine created an “Employee Retirement Plan and Trust” (the Trust) for the 
benefit of its permanent employees.  The sole trustee of the trust, Nancy Thomas 
(Thomas) is also the President/Treasurer, sole stockholder, and a Director of Marine.  The 
trust agreement provides for annual contributions by Marine to the trust based on the 
company’s net income. 
 
All questions concerning construction of the trust agreement, including those involving 
the powers and duties of the trustee, are to be decided by an administrative committee 
appointed by Marine.  Funds accumulated under the trust accrue solely to the benefit of 
the participants, and can never revert to or be used for the benefit of Marine.  As to 
distribution of benefits, the trust agreement provides in relevant part that when a 
participant leaves the employ of the company for reasons other than disability or 
retirement at age sixty-five than an amount equal to his vested share of the trust is 
required to be segregated into a separate savings account and held by the trustee for a five 
year period.  Only after the expiration of the five year period may the trustee distribute 
those benefits (plus accumulated interest) to the participant.  The purpose of the waiting 
period, as stated in the trust agreement, is to “encourage all employees to become and to 
remain participants in the …..[trust]”. 

                                                 
1Brown-Mx conceding that some leases were properly excludable from the tally, maintained below that annual 
rentals were $713,526.  The bank calculated that at most they were $706,176.    



Harley was a permanent employee of Marine from 2003 until April 1, 2010.  She was the 
general superintendent of the business, and her duties included estimating and preparing 
bids, in addition to the supervision of ongoing work.  As a result of this employment 
Harley became skilled in Marine contracting both as a field supervisor and as an 
estimator and bidder.  As a permanent employee Harley was a participant in the trust, and 
by 2010 her vested share amounted to $120,000.  Sometime in March 2010, Harley 
notified Thomas of her plan to leave Marine’s employ as of April 1 in order to return to 
her hometown of Stewarts Town, New Hampshire.  Thomas offered to make immediate 
payment to Harley of her vested share of the trust in return for Harley’s promises not to 
compete with Marine. Harley agreed to this proposal.  On April, 1, Harley and Marine 
(represented by Thomas) signed an “agreement not to compete” in which Harley, “in 
consideration of one dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable consideration,” promised 
not to compete with Marine, directly or indirectly within 100 miles of Boston for five 
years.  On the same date, Harley received the full amount of her share in the trust.   
 
Starting in August of 2010, Harley began to perform Marine work similar to the work of 
Marine.  The jobs she performed were within 100 miles of Boston and at least some were 
performed for customers known by Harley to be customers of Marine.  During this time 
counsel for Marine put Harley on notice that she was violating the agreement not to 
compete.  Harley responded she did not intend to comply with the terms of that 
agreement.  In January, 2011, Harley formed her own corporation to undertake the work 
which she had been doing as an individual.  By that time the other two key supervisory 
employees who had been working for Marine as of April 11, 2010, had quit Marine and 
were working for Harley. 
 
Marine filed suit in April of 2011 and an injunction issued on May 1, 2011.  Harley seeks 
to vacate the injunction. What result?  Fully support your answer. 
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Professor Sullivan     “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2012- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 
 
Short Answer Question  
(worth 5 points) 
 
On March 25, Polly sent a purchase order for100 chairs to Easy Manufacturing 
Company.  The purchase order contained the following language:  BUYER OBJECTS IN 
ADVANCE TO ANY TERMS PROPOSED BY SELLER THAT DIFFER FROM 
THESE.  Easy Manufacturing received the order and on March 29, sent back an 
acknowledgment disclaiming all warranties and stating:  THIS IS NOT AN 
ACCEPTANCE UNLESS BUYER ASSENTS TO ALL OUR TERMS. 
Is there a contract?  Fully support your answer. 
 

PUT ANSWER ON MULTIPLE CHOICE ANSWER SHEET  
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Professor Sullivan     “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2012- Final Exam      Thomas Jefferson 
Essay Portion           
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 15 points) 
 
Plaintiff alleges that it was induced to enter into a contract of sale of a building held by 
defendants because of oral representations, falsely made by the defendants, as to the 
operating expense of the building and as to the profits to be derived from the investment.  
The signed contract by both parties contains the following language: “The purchaser has 
examined the premises agreed to be sold and is familiar with the physical condition 
thereof.  The seller has not made and does not make any representations as to the physical 
condition, rents, leases, expenses, operation or any other matter or thing affecting or 
related to the aforesaid premises, except as herein specifically set forth, and the Purchaser 
hereby expressly acknowledges that no such representations have been made, and the 
Purchaser further acknowledges that it has inspected the premises and agrees to take the 
premises “as is”. . . It is understood and agreed that all understandings and agreements 
had between the parties hereto are merged in this contract, which alone fully and 
completely expresses their agreement, and that the same is entered into after full 
investigation, neither party relying upon any statement or representation, not embodied in 
this contract, made by the other.  The purchaser has inspected the building standing on 
said premises and is thoroughly acquainted with the condition.” 
What result when plaintiff files suit?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 15 points) 
 
The Busby’s contracted in 2007 to purchase ten acres of undeveloped land from a 
partnership comprised of the defendants (Evans) for a total of $250,000.00.  Part of the 
price was paid at closing, with the remainder to be paid later.  The Evans were to convey 
legal title on receipt of payment in full. 
 
The land sold was zoned for agriculture use at the time of the contract, with no more than 
one residence per ten acre parcel permitted.  The parties had hopes of developing the area 
more extensively than the zoning permitted, but their hopes did not prove feasible.  
Property values in the area have generally declined since the contract was made.  The 
contract was reduced to writing by filling in a pre-printed form entitled “Uniform Real 
Estate Contract,” into which the following typewritten words were inserted: 
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The Seller hereby agrees and warrants to furnishing water and electrical power and road 
to this Property by July, 2008.  If Buyer is unable to obtain a building permit by July 
2008 the seller agrees to indemnify and repay this contract within 6 months. 
 
This insertion in the original contract was the subject of a “Supplemental Agreement” 
dated November 3, 2008, which read as follows: 
 
 Because of unforeseen circumstances that have arisen with regard to  furnishing 
utilities to the subject property, the following Supplemental Agreement is added . . . . It is 
now understood and agreed that the Sellers at their expense will furnish to each of (2-5 
acre) plots, the culinary water, electrical power, and roads.  The Buyer is to pay $1,000 
hook-up and  installation fee for culinary water.  The fee is to be paid at the time of home 
construction and no fees payable for electrical power or roads, to property fade lines. 
 
 If Buyers should sell any lots from their 5 acre plots, then and in this event  a 
$4,000 utilities improvement fee is payable to Sellers at the time of sale for each and 
every lot sold.  This pays for the utilities, roads, electrical power and culinary water.  
Buyers of these lots would pay in addition $1,000 culinary water hook-up and installation 
fee. 
 
 Sellers hereby agree to furnish at their cost, sewer facilities to each of these 5 acre 
plots . . .  
 
 It is further understood and agreed that if the Sellers are unable to furnish these 
utilities on or before October 15, 2010 the Sellers agree to indemnify and repay this 
contract within six months.  
 
 The provisions of this Supplemental Agreement shall not alter or reduce in  any 
way the conditions, terms, and provisions of the original contract. 
 
 At the time of trial, Sellers had not furnished water to the property, but the  court 
found that they were “ready, willing, and able at all times” to supply  the required water.  
Buyers, however, had not obtained, or applied for, a building permit, and had not paid the 
$1,000 hook-up and installation fee.  The trial court found that the Buyers had “decided 
not to build on the property because they were going to live elsewhere.” 
 
What result on appeal?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 15 points) 
 
In 2010, defendant hired Smith to sell a line of prescription drugs to retail pharmacies in 
several eastern states.  Prior to being offered employment, Smith signed an employment 
application which stated, in part:  “I understand and agree, if hired, my employment is for 
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no definite period, and may regardless of the date of payment of my wages and salary, be 
terminated at any time without any prior notice.”  
 
In February, 2011, Smith accepted a substantial promotion to regional sales manager for 
the western United States.  He relied upon defendant’s representations that the drugs 
development was in place.  Defendant made unsuccessful efforts to correct some drug 
related issues regarding the matter and Smith lost commissions when the drug was 
delayed as a result. 
 
In April 2011, Smith was directed to sell the drug in Hawaii even though the drug was 
not fully ready.  In May 2011, defendant adopted a personnel policy, not intended to be 
retroactive, that sales people were to be terminated “if not at quota for two full quarters or 
letter of explanation is required.”  On December 31, 2011, Smith was fired because he 
was not at quota for two successive quarters.  There was evidence that he would have 
been at quota if there were no problems with the drug’s development.  Smith sued 
defendant.  What result?   
Fully support your answer. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
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Spring 2013- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 

 
ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 

 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Defendants, owners of a two-acre parcel in Essex County, on October 16, 2012 
contracted for the sale of the property to plaintiff, a real estate investor and developer.  
The purchase price was fixed at $750,000 - $25,000 payable on contract execution, 
$225,000 to be paid in cash on closing (to take place “on or about December 1, 2012”) 
and the $500,000 balance secured by a purchase – money mortgage payable two years 
later. 
 
The parties signed a printed form contract of sale, supplemented by several of their own 
paragraphs.  Two provisions of the contract have particular relevance to the present 
dispute – a reciprocal cancellation provision (para. 31) and a merger clause (para. 19).  
Paragraph 31, one of the provisions the parties added to the contract form reads, “The 
parties acknowledge that sellers have been served with process instituting an action 
concerned with the real property which is the subject of this agreement.  In the event the 
closing of title is delayed by reason of such litigation, it is agreed that closing of title will 
in a like manner be adjourned until after the conclusion of such litigation; provided, in the 
event such litigation is not concluded, by or before 4.1.2013, either party shall have the 
right to cancel this contract whereupon the down payment shall be returned and there 
shall be no further rights hereunder.”  Paragraph 19 is the form merger provision, 
reading: “All prior understandings and agreements between seller and purchaser are 
merged in this contract (and it) completely expresses their full agreement.  It has been 
entered into after full investigation, neither party relying upon any statements made by 
anyone else that are not set forth in this contract.” 
 
The contract of sale, in other paragraphs the parties added to the printed form provided 
that the purchaser alone had the unconditional right to cancel the contract within 10 days 
of signing (para. 32), and that the purchaser alone had the option to cancel if, at closing, 
the seller was unable to deliver building permits for 50 senior citizen housing units (para 
29). 
 
The contract in fact did not close on December 1, 2012, as originally contemplated.  As 
April 1, 2013 neared with the litigation still unresolved, plaintiff on March 13 wrote 
defendants that it was prepared to close and would appear for closing. On March 28, 
2013; plaintiff instituted the present action for specific performance.  On April 2, 2013, 
defendants canceled the contract and returned the down payment, which plaintiff refused.  
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Defendants thereafter sought summary judgment dismissing the specific performance 
action on the ground that the contract gave them the absolute right to cancel. 
 
Plaintiff’s claim to specific performance rests upon its recitation of how paragraph 31 
originated.  Those facts are set forth in the affidavit of plaintiff’s vice president submitted 
in opposition to defendant’s summary judgment motion.  
 
As Plaintiff explains, during contract negotiations it learned that, as a result of unrelated 
litigation against defendant a lis pendens had been filed against the property.1  Although 
assured by defendants that the suit was meritless, plaintiff anticipated difficulty obtaining 
a construction loan (including title insurance for the loan) needed to implement its plans 
to build senior citizen housing units.  According to the affidavit, it was therefore agreed 
that paragraph 31 would be added for plaintiff’s sole benefit, as contract vendor.  As it  
developed, plaintiff’s fears proved groundless – the lis pendens did not impede its ability 
to secure construction financing.  However, around March 2013, plaintiff claims it 
learned from the broker on the transaction that one of the defendants had told him they 
were doing nothing to defend the litigation awaiting April 2, 2013 to cancel the contract 
and suggested the broker might get a higher price.   
How should the court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
  
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Following his graduation from Tufts University, Dr. Hale began working part-time as a 
veterinarian at the Andover Pet Clinic, Inc. (“Andover Pet”) in July 2008.  Andover Pet 
specializes in the care of small animals, mostly domesticated dogs, and cats.  Dr. Hale 
practiced under the guidance and direction of the President of Andover Pet Clinic, Dr. 
James.  Dr. James, on behalf of Andover Pet offered Dr. Hale full-time employment in 
February of 2009.  The oral offer included a specified salary and potential for bonus 
earnings, as well as other terms of employment.  According to Dr. James, he conditioned 
the offer on Dr. Hale’s acceptance of a covenant not to compete, the specific details of 
which were not discussed at the time. Dr. Hale commenced full-time employment with 
Andover Pet under oral agreement in March of 2009, and relocated to Lawrence, 
discontinuing his commute from his former residence in Cambridge. 
 
A written employment agreement incorporating the terms of the oral agreement was 
finally executed by the parties on December 11, 2009.  Ancillary to the provisions for 
employment, the agreement detailed the terms of a covenant not to compete.  “12. This 
agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 days notice to the other party.  
Upon termination, Dr. Hale agrees that he will not practice small animal medicine for a 
period of three years from the date of termination within five miles of the limits of the 

                                                 
1 A lis pendens, by giving notice of an imminent lawsuit, warns any interested party to be aware of the proceeding. 
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Town of Andover.  Dr. Hale agrees that the duration and geographic scope of that 
limitation is reasonable”.   The agreement was antedated to be effective to March 3, 2009. 
 
The parties executed an addendum to the agreement on June 1, 2009.  The addendum 
provided that Andover Pet and a newly acquired corporate entity, Andover Pet Hospital, 
Inc., also located in Andover, would share Dr. Hales’s professional services. The 
President of Andover Pet Clinic and Andover Pet Hospital Dr. James agreed in the 
addendum, to raise Dr. Hales’ salary.  The bonus provision of the original agreement was 
eliminated.  Except as modified, the other terms of the March 3, 2009 employment 
agreement, including the covenant not to compete, were re-affirmed and Dr. Hale 
continued his employment.  
 
One year later, reacting to a rumor that Dr. Hale was investigating the purchase of a 
veterinary practice in Andover, Dr. James asked his attorney to prepare a letter which was 
presented to Dr. Hale.  The letter dated June 17, 2011, stated: 
 

“I have learned that you are considering leaving us to take over the small animal 
part of Dr. Boer’s practice in Andover.” 
 
“When we negotiated the terms of your employment, we agreed that you could 
leave upon thirty (30) days notice, but that you would not practice small animal 
medicine within five miles of Andover for a three year period.  We do not have 
any non-competition agreement for large animal medicine, which therefore does 
not enter into the picture.” 
  
“I am willing to release you from the non-competition agreement in return for a 
cash buy-out.  I have worked back from the proportion of the income of Andover 
Pet and Andover Pet Hospital which you contribute and have decided that a 
reasonable figure would be $40,000.00, to compensate the practice for the loss of 
business which will happen if you practice small animal medicine elsewhere in 
Andover.” 
 
“If you are willing to approach the problem in the way I suggest, please let me 
know and I will have the appropriate paperwork taken care of.” 
 

“Sincerely,  
(signed) Bruce James, D.V.M.” 

 
Dr. Hale responded to the letter by denying that he was going to purchase Dr. Boer’s 
practice.  Dr. Hale told Dr. James that the employment agreement was not worth the 
paper it was written on and that he could do anything he wanted to do.  Dr. James 
terminated Dr. Hale’s employment and informed him to consider the thirty day notice as 
having been given. An unsigned, hand written note from Dr. James to Dr. Hale, dated 
June 18, 2011, affirmed the termination and notice providing in part: “Per your request to 
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abide by your employment agreement with Andover Pet and Andover Pet Hospital as 
regards to termination: Be advised that your last day of employment is July 18, 2011, for 
reasons that we are both aware of and have discussed previously.” 
 
Subsequently, Dr. Hale purchased Mill City Veterinary Clinic (“Mill City”).  Beginning 
on July 15, 2011, Dr. Hale operated Mill City in violation of the covenant not to compete 
within the Town of Andover and with a practice including large and small animals under 
Dr. Hale’s guidance.  Mill City’s client list grew from 368 at the time he purchased the 
practice to approximately 950 at the time of trial.  A comparison of client lists disclosed 
that 187 clients served by Dr. Hale at Mill City were also clients of Andover Pet or 
Andover Pet Hospital.  Some of these shared clients received permissible large animal 
services from Dr. Hale.  Overall, the small animal work contributed from fifty-one, to 
fifty-two percent of Dr. Hale’s gross income at Mill City. 
 
Andover Pet and Andover Pet Hospital filed a complaint against Dr. Hale on November 
15, 2011, seeking injunctive relief and damages for breach. 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer.  
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Tread Inc. sells treadmills through a series of regional distributors.  Each contract 
confines the distributor to a specified territory.  The Massachusetts distributor was given 
exclusive rights in Massachusetts, while the New Hampshire distributor had rights in 
New Hampshire.  When the New Hampshire distributor began selling treadmills in 
Northern Massachusetts, it was sued by the Massachusetts distributor. 
 
A). What are the New Hampshire distributor’s defenses to the law suit? 
 
B). What outcome?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #4 
(worth 5 points) 
 
Buyer & Seller enter negotiations.  Buyer then mails a purchase order to seller.  The purchase 
order specified the price of $10,000.00 and shipping instructions.  However, absent were any 
warranties or remedies.  The seller responded with a written acknowledgment to buyer which 
accepted the order and agreed as to the price, quantity, and shipping instructions.  The 
acknowledgment also contained a clause excluding liability for consequential damages.  Seller 
then ships the goods. 
 
Discuss whether a contract exists and, if so, what the terms are. 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2014- Final           Thomas Jefferson 
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY QUESTIONS IN BLUE BOOK 
 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 25 points) 
 
In November of 2013, a Beech Baron aircraft piloted by Walter Graham crashed while in 
route from Lawrence to Springfield, killing Graham and his three passengers.  Graham 
had rented the plane from Southern Skyways, Inc. (“SS”) in order to carry out an air taxi 
business that he operated.  The entire SS fleet of airplanes was insured by National Union 
but, under Graham’s arrangement with SS he was required to maintain separate liability 
coverage.  Graham thus contracted to purchase an American Eagle insurance policy, but 
the parties dispute whether this coverage was to be exclusive of, or in addition to, 
National Union’s policy in the event of loss during his use. 
 
American Eagle contends that both policies covered any loss to Graham and his 
passengers, and it points out that both policies contain “other insurance” clauses allowing 
for sharing of liability on a pro rata basis with other insurers.  Therefore it argues, 
National Union should be liable for contribution for the expense that American Eagle 
incurred when the latter settled claims for approximately $1,000.000 following the crash.  
In support, American Eagle cites the express wording of Endorsement 14 of National 
Union’s policy, which states that its coverage extends to “any person operating the 
aircraft under the terms of any rental agreement or training program which provides any 
remuneration to SS for the use of such aircraft.”  Because Graham was paying rent under 
a sublease for SS’s plane, American Eagle contends that National Union’s policy 
unambiguously covered the rented aircraft. 
 
National Union counters, however, that Graham and American Eagle intended American 
Eagle’s policy to provide the sole coverage to Graham.  National Union submits that 
when Graham arranged to sublease the plane from SS, its president, Monte George, 
explained to SS, “insurance wouldn’t cover (Graham’s) air taxi business and he would 
have to get his own insurance on the aircraft.”  In addition, National Union offers the 
testimony of William Clark, coincidentally the insurance agent for both American Eagle 
and National Union.  Clark would testify that his understanding of Graham’s insurance 
plans was that American Eagle’s policy was to be the only one covering Graham in this 
situation. 
 
National Union thus argues that it would be inequitable to hold it liable for contribution 
to which it never agreed.  It urges the court to consider this evidence surrounding the 
formation of the insurance policies at issue here.   
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A). You are counsel to American Eagle.  What is your argument? 
 
B). How would the court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Only More Foods (“OMF”) regularly purchased cartons for shipping can goods.  OMF 
would submit a purchase order for a specific quantity of cartons, and Carbon Cartons 
would send an invoice.  The following clause appeared on the back of the invoices and 
also on a price list Carbon Cartons sent out regularly to its customers: 
 

In addition to the purchase price, Buyer will pay Seller the governmental taxes that 
Seller may be required to pay with respect to the production, sale, or transportation 
of any materials hereunder. 

 
In 2013, OMF threatened to buy elsewhere from a seller that would not have to charge 
local sales tax because the seller took orders outside the local office.  Carbon Cartons told 
OMF to submit orders to Carbon Cartons non-local office, and stopped charging sales 
taxes on OMF’s orders.  The Massachusetts Tax Authority decided that Carbon Cartons 
should have been charging taxes and assessed Carbon Cartons for back taxes for its 
transactions with OMF.  Carbon Cartons sought reimbursement from OMF citing the 
indemnifications clause included in the invoice. 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 10 points) 
 
Linda conveyed land to Milly, who assumed and agreed to pay to Bank a debt owed by 
Linda that was secured by a mortgage on the land.  Before Bank learned of the contract, 
Milly sold it to Cindy, who assumed and agreed to pay the debt.  At the time of the 
transaction between Milly and Cindy, Linda sent a letter to Milly releasing her from her 
promise to pay Bank, effective upon Cindy’s assumption of the duty to pay.   
Does the Bank have any rights against Milly?  Fully support your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #4 
(worth 10 points) 
 
A). Assignee sues obligor on the claim.  Obligor defends by claiming her duty is 
discharged by full performance rendered to assignor. 
Who Prevails?  Fully support your answer. 
 
B). Assignee sues obligor on the claim.  Obligor defends by claiming that his duty is  
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discharged by a material breach by the assignor of the contract between obligor and 
Assignor.  Who prevails?  Does it matter whether breach by assignor occurred before or 
after notice of the assignment to the obligor? 
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis  “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts         in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2015- Final Examination          Thomas Jefferson 
 
STUDENT ID: ____________________________ 
 
**PLACE MULTIPLE CHOICE ANSWERS ON THE SEPARATE 
SCANTRON ANSWER SHEET** 
 
 Answers that have not been placed on the Scantron Answer Sheet WILL 

NOT be scored.  
 No additional time will be given for transferring answers onto the answer 

sheet.  
 Use pencil only for the Scantron 
 
Question One and Question Two are based on the following fact pattern:   
 
 During 2013, a series of burglaries, one of which occurred at Home Depot, hit the Town 
of Sterling.  In early 2014, Sterling’s City Council adopted this resolution:  The Town 
will pay $5,000 for the arrest and conviction of anyone found guilty of any of the 2013 
burglaries committed here. 
 
The foregoing was televised by the town’s only television station once daily for one 
week.  Subsequently, Home Depot, by a written memorandum to Gus, a private detective, 
proposed to pay Gus $250 for each day’s work he actually performed in investigating; 
thereafter, in August 2014, the Town Council by resolution repealed its reward offer, and 
caused this resolution to be broadcast once daily for a week over two local radio stations, 
the local television station, having meanwhile ceased operations.  In September 2014, a 
Home Depot employee voluntarily confessed to Gus to having committed all of the 2013 
burglaries.  Home Depot’s President thereupon paid Gus at the proposed daily rate for his 
investigation and suggested that Gus also claim the town’s reward, of which Gus had 
been previously unaware.  Gus immediately made the claim.  In December 2014, as a 
result of Gus’s investigation, the Home Depot employee was convicted of burglarizing 
the store.  The Town, which has no immunity to suit, has since refused to pay Gus 
anything, although he swears that he never heard of the City’s repeal before claiming its 
reward.    
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Professor Sullivan & Professor Dimitriadis “Honesty is the first chapter  
Contracts        in the book of wisdom.”   
Spring 2015- Final Examination    Thomas Jefferson 
 

ANSWER ALL ESSAY THREE (3) QUESTIONS IN THE BLUE BOOK USING 
BLUE OR BLACK INK PEN ONLY 

 
Essay - Question #1 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Channel Home Centers (“Channel”), a division of Grace Retail Corporation, operates 
retail home improvement stores throughout the Northeastern United States.  Frank 
Grossman, either owns or has a controlling interest in appellees Tri-Star Associates (“Tri-
Star”), Baker Investment Corporation (“Baker”), and Cedarbrook Associates 
(“Cedarbrook”). 
 
In the third week of November, 2012, Tri-Star wrote to Richard Perkowski, Director of 
Real Estate for Channel, informing him of the availability of a store location in 
Cedarbrook Mall (“the Mall”) which Tri-Star believed Channel would be interested in 
leasing.  Perkowski expressed some interest, and met the Grossmans on November 28, 
2012.   
 
After Perkowski was given a tour of the premises, the terms of a lease were discussed.  
Frank Grossman testified that “we discussed various terms, and these terms were, some 
were loose, some were more or less terms.” 
 
In a memorandum dated December 7, 2012, to S. Charles Tabak, Channel’s senior vice-
president for general administration, Perkowski outlined the salient lease terms that he 
had negotiated with the Grossmans.  On or about the same date, Tabak and Leon Burger, 
President of Channel, visited the mall site with the Grossmans.  They indicated that 
Channel desired to lease the site.  Frank Grossman then requested that Channel execute a 
letter of intent that, as Grossman put it, could be shown to “other people, banks or 
whatever.”  Tabak testified that the Grossmans wanted to get Channel into the site 
because it would give the Mall four “anchor” stores.  Apparently, Frank Grossman was 
anxious to get Channel’s signature on a letter of intent so that it could be used to help 
Grossman secure financing for his purchase of the Mall. 
 
On December 11, 2012, in response to Grossman’s request, Channel prepared, executed, 
and submitted a detailed letter of intent setting forth a plethora of lease terms which 
provided, inter alia, that (t)o induce the Tenant (Channel) to proceed with the leasing of 
the Store, you (Grossman) will withdraw the Store from the rental market, and only 
negotiate the above described leasing transaction to completion. 



 3 

Please acknowledge your intent to proceed with the leasing of the store under the above 
terms, conditions and understanding by signing the enclosed copy of the letter and 
returning it to the undersigned within ten (10) days from the date hereof.1  

                                                 
1 The full December 11, 2012 letter, on Channel stationery, reads as follows: 
 

Dear Mr. Grossman: 
 
The Channel Home Centers Division of Grace Retail Corporation has approved the 

leasing of a store at the above described location subject to the terms and conditions of this letter. 
The purpose of this letter is to express the understanding under which an Agreement of Lease, 
prepared by Tenant, but in a mutually satisfactory form, is to be executed by the owner of the 
Shopping Center, as Landlord and Grace Retail Corporation, as Tenant. 

 
The Landlord will lease to the Tenant the following described Store located in the 

captioned Shopping Center, all as shown and described on the copy of your leasing brochure 
attached to this letter and on the following terms: 

 
1. Store: Existing 70,400 sq. ft. area designated in the attached leasing brochure as space 

“1” on lower level of mall beneath Jamesway Department Store, together with use of outdoor 
area for storage and sales. Such area located in portion of parking lot adjacent to space “1”. 

 
2. Term & Rent: Term of twenty-five (25) years commencing the date Tenant opens for 

business during which Tenant will pay Annual Rent in the amounts set forth below plus 
Percentage Rent of two (2) percent of Gross Sales during each lease year in excess of the Gross 
Sales Break Point set forth below: 
 
Lease Year Annual Rent  Gross Sales 
     Break Point 
1-5  $112,500  10.0 MM 
6-10  $137,500  11.0 MM 
11-15  $162,500  12.1 MM 
16-20  $187,500  13.3 MM 
21-25  $212,500  14.6 MM    
      

3. Option Periods: Tenant’s right to extend for four (4) option periods of five (5) years 
each, on the same terms as during the initial term, except that during each exercised option 
period, the Annual Rent shall be increased once by $25,000 per year, and the Gross Sales Break 
Point shall be increased by 10% over the sums in effect for the prior 5-year period (i.e. during 
Lease Years 26-30 of first option period, Annual Rent shall be $237,500 per year and Gross 
Sales Break Point shall be $16.06 million); 

 
4. Real Estate Taxes: Landlord’s obligation, Tenant does not make contributions; 
 
5. Common Area Maintenance: Landlord’s obligation to maintain and repair existing 850 

car parking lot in northeast portion of Shopping Center, which will be the Tenant’s primary 
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parking area, and other common areas of the Shopping Center; Tenant does not make 
contributions; 

 
6. Landlord’s Pre-term Responsibilities: Landlord will deliver store empty and broom 

clean including the removal of all partitions, and with HVAC system in working order. The 
Landlord will submeter and locate the major electric service to the area of the Store, as Channel 
designates. Landlord will remove the existing escalator and provide escape stairs as per fire code, 
and will insure that the building is free of any asbestos hazard. The service elevator and two 
receiving bays on the lower level, will be boxed-out from the Tenant’s Store, to serve the upper 
levels of the Shopping Center. 

 
7. Maintenance & Repairs: Landlord will maintain repair and replace if necessary the 

HVAC system, roof and structural and exterior portions of the building. Tenant responsible for 
building interior and store front and will pay its prorate share of HVAC usage. 
Execution of the Agreement of Lease by Landlord and Tenant is specifically subject to each of 
the following: 
 

a. Tenant’s authority: Approval by Tenant’s parent corporation, W.R. Grace & Co., and 
its Retail Group, of the essential business terms of the Agreement of Lease;  

 
b. Legal Title: Approval by the Tenant of the status of title for the site, including any 

access easements. 
 
c. Sign Contingency: The Tenants obtaining all necessary permits with the [Landlord’s] 

cooperation (including obtaining any sign variances) for the erection of Tenant’s identification 
signs, on two (2) pylons located on Cheltenham Ave. and Easton Ave., respectively, and two 
building signs on the front of the mall and the front of the Store. 

 
The Tenant has and will not incur any brokerage fees in connection with this proposed 

lease. Any expenditure by the Landlord or Tenant prior to execution of the Agreement of Lease 
shall be at the party’s own risk. 

 
A store opening date during the first half of 2013 is planned. Lease preparation, obtaining 

the sign permits and approvals described above and delivery of possession of the Store to Tenant 
would commence immediately and proceed to achieve that estimated opening date. To induce the 
Tenant to proceed with the leasing of this Store, you will withdraw the Store from the rental 
market, and only negotiate the above described leasing transaction to completion. 

 
Please acknowledge your intent to proceed with the leasing of the captioned store under 

the above terms, conditions and understanding by signing the enclosed copy of this letter and 
returning it to the undersigned within ten (10) days from the date hereof. 
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Very truly yours,  
s/s/ 
S.C. Tabak 
Senior Vice President 
Channel Home Center Division 
 
 
Frank Grossman promptly signed the letter of intent and returned it to Channel.  
Grossman contends that Perkowski and Tabak also agreed orally that a draft lease be 
submitted within thirty (30) days.  Perkowski and Tabak denied telling Grossman that a 
lease would be forthcoming within 30 days or any finite period of time. 
 
Thereafter, both parties initiated procedures directed toward satisfaction of lease 
contingencies.  The letter of intent specified that execution of the lease was expressly 
subject to each of the following:  (1) approval by Channel’s parent corporation W.R. 
Grace & Company (“Grace”), of the essential business terms of the lease; (2) approval by 
Channel of the status of title for the site; and (3) Channel’s obtaining ,with Frank 
Grossman’s cooperation, all necessary permits and zoning variances for the erection of 
Channel’s identification signs. 
 
On December 14, 2012, Channel directed the Grace legal department to prepare a lease 
for the premises.  Channel’s real estate committee approved the lease site on December 
20, 2012.  Channel’s planning representatives visited the premises on December 21, 
2012, to obtain measurements for architectural alterations, renovations and related 
construction.  Detailed marketing plans were developed, building plans drafted, delivery 
schedules were prepared and materials and equipment deemed necessary for the store 
were purchased.  The Grossmans applied to Chelsea’s building and zoning committee for 
permission to erect commercial signs for Channel and other tenants of the Mall. 
 
On January 11, 2013, Bill Shea, of the Grace legal department sent to Frank Grossman 
two of a forty-one (41) page draft lease and, in  a cover letter, requested copies of several 
documents to be used as exhibits to the lease.  On January 16, 2013, Bill Shea received 
the following letter from Frank Grossman: 
 
 Dear Mr. Shea: 
 
 As you requested, enclosed please find the following documents: 
 

1) A copy of a recent title report for the Cedarbrook Mall (the “Mall”), 
 
2) A legal description of the Mall, 

 
3) A site plan of the Mall, and  
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4) A description of the Landlord’s construction. 
 

As we discussed, we have commenced work on the Channel location at the Mall 
and would, therefore, appreciate your assistance in expediting the execution of the 
Channel lease. 
 
 I look forward to hearing from you soon. 
      

Very Truly Yours, 
      BAKER INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
      /S/ 
      FRANK S. GROSSMAN, 
      EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT 
 
On January 21, 2013, Bill Shea received a copy of a letter from Frank Grossman to 
Richard Perkowski dated January 17, 2013.  It provided: 
 

At Bill Shea’s request, enclosed is a site plan for the Cedarbrook  
Mall and also a copy of the proposed pylon sign design. 

 
We look forward to executing the lease agreement in the very near future.   
If you have any questions, please feel free to call me. 

 
Frank Grossman called Shea on January 23, 2013 to discuss the lease.  The only item 
Grossman could recall discussing pertained to the “use” clause in the lease, specifically 
whether Channel could use the site for warehouse facilities at some future point.  
Apparently, Grossman then related other areas of concern and Shea suggested that a 
telephone conference be arranged with all parties the following week.  Grossman agreed.  
According to Grossman, Shea was supposed to initiate the conference call; however, 
when the call was not forthcoming, Grossman did not attempt to reach Shea or anyone 
else at Channel.  Shea understood that the Grossmans were going to discuss the lease 
among themselves and get back to him. 
 
On or about January 22, 2013, Stephen Erlbaum, Chairman of the Board of Mr. Good 
Buys of Boston, Inc. (“Mr. Good Buys”), contacted Frank Grossman.  Like Channel, Mr. 
Good Buys is a corporation engaged in the business of operating retail home 
improvement centers; it is a major competitor of Channel in the Boston area.  Erlbaum 
advised Grossman that Mr. Good Buys would be interested in leasing space at 
Cedarbrook Mall, and sent Grossman printed information about Mr. Good Buys.  
 
On January 24, 2013, construction representatives from Channel met at the mall site to go 
over building alterations and designs.  The next day, January 25, 2013, Erlbaum and other 
representatives from Mr. Good Buys met with the Grossmans and toured Channel’s 
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proposed lease location.  When Erlbaum expressed an interest in leasing this site, lease 
terms were discussed. 
 
On February 6, 2013, Frank Grossman notified Channel that “negotiations terminated as 
of this date” due to Channel’s failure to submit a signed and mutually acceptable lease for 
the mall site within thirty days of the December 11, 2013 letter of intent.  (This was the 
first and only written evidence of the purported thirty-day time limit.  The letter of intent 
contained no such term . . .) On February 7, 2013, Mr. Good Buys and Frank Grossman 
executed a lease for the Cedarbrook Mall.  Mr. Good Buys agreed to make base-level 
annual rental payments which were substantially greater than those agreed to by Channel 
in the December 11, 2013 letter of intent.  Channel’s corporate parent, Grace, approved 
the terms of Channel’s proposed lease on February 13, 2013. 
 
Channel commenced suit in the district court.  Count I of Channel’s complaint alleged 
that Grossman’s conduct violated the December 11, 2013 letter of intent and constituted a 
breach of contract . . . In a supporting affidavit, S. Charles Tabak averred that Channel 
had substantially completed all tasks necessary to meet the opening contemplated in the 
letter of intent and that it had made out-of-pocket expenditures to this end in the sum of 
$25,000.  The United States District Court found against Channel.   
 
What result in the United States Court of Appeals?  Fully support your answer with 
analysis. 
 
Essay - Question #2 
(worth 20 points) 
 
Plaintiff has been a lessee of a suite in a shopping mall in Princeton, Massachusetts where 
he conducted a store, selling a number of items including candy, ice cream, soda pop, and 
cigarettes.  Defendant acquired the mall in which the store was located, and its agent 
negotiated with plaintiff for a further leasing of the store space.  A lease for three years 
was signed.  It contained a provision that the lessee should, “use the premises only for the 
sale of candy, ice cream, soda pop, etc.,”  with the further stipulation that “it is expressly 
understood that the tenant is not allowed to sell tobacco in any form under penalty of 
instant forfeiture of the lease.” The document was prepared following a discussion about 
leasing the premises between the parties and, after an agreement to lease had been 
reached,  it was signed after it had been left in plaintiff’s hands and admittedly had been 
read over by him, by two persons, one of whom was his daughter. 
 
Plaintiff alleges that in the course of his dealings with defendant’s agent, it was agreed 
that in consideration of his promise not to sell cigarettes, and to pay an increased rent, 
and for entering into the agreement as a whole, he should have the exclusive right to sell 
soft drinks in the mall. 
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Shortly after signing the lease, the defendant demised the adjoining suite to Smith 
without restricting the latter’s right to sell soft drinks or soda pop.  Alleging that this was 
in violation of the contract which defendant had made with him, and that the sale of these 
beverages by Smith had greatly reduced his receipts and profits, plaintiff brought an 
action for damages for breach of contract. 
 
What result?  Fully analyze your answer. 
 
Essay - Question #3 
(worth 15 points) 
 
Morris owns a ranch near Holden, Massachusetts.  Scott is a cowboy, and is experienced 
in training horses.  Morris and Scott made an agreement that Scott would stay at the 
ranch and perform some necessary work.  The parties are in accord that Scott was to 
work 16 weeks for a money consideration of $8,000.  But, Scott says, that as an 
additional consideration he was to receive a brown horse called Keno, owned by Morris.  
Morris stated that Scott was to get the horse only on condition that his work at the ranch 
was satisfactory, and that Scott failed to do a good job.  Morris paid Scott the amount of 
money they agreed was due, but did not deliver the horse. 
 
Scott contends that there was an accord and satisfaction between the parties which 
precludes Scott from recovering the horse.  After the 16 week period expired, Morris 
owed Scott a balance in May of $1,800.  The parties met at a bank in Holden where 
Morris gave Scott a check for that amount and made a notation on the check, “Labor paid 
in full.” 
 
Scott cashed the check: 
 

A) What are Morris’s arguments? 
 

B) How should the Court rule?  Fully support your answer. 
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